FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 12/30/2024 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK FILED Court of Appeals Division I State of Washington 12/26/2024 4:58 PM

Court of Appeals No. 851748-I Supreme Court No.

Case #: 1037422

## WASHINGTON STATE COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION I

Snohomish County, Petitioner

v.

Lori Shavlik, Respondent

## ON APPEAL FROM KING COUNTY SUPERIOR COURT

## **PETITION FOR REVIEW**

Lori Shavlik POB 73 Woodinville, WA., 98072 425-215-6608

##

Identity of Petitioner:

The petitioner is Lori Shavlik, who was the respondent when the case was litigated before the court of appeals.

Citation to the Court of Appeals decision:

The petition appeals the unpublished opinion of the Court of Appeals Division I, in Shavlik v. Snohomish County, Case No. 85174-8-I, issued on November 25<sup>th</sup>, 2024.

Issues Presented for Review:

- 1. Was the action of the agency "final?"
- 2. Was the subpoena of the judge relevant to the issues to be

decided in Public Records case?

Statement of the case:

## A. In 2020, Shavlik Made Two Public Records Requests Concerning Snohomish County Superior Court Judge George Appel

1. Shavlik's First Public Records Request.

On April 13, 2020, Shavlik sought records under the PRA

from Snohomish County regarding: 1) Snohomish County

Superior Court Judge George F.B. Appel's prior employment as

a Snohomish County deputy prosecuting attorney; and 2) and Dawson Place Child Advocacy Center ("Dawson Place"), a nonprofit corporation that houses multiple programs concerning victims of abuse and neglect, including the Snohomish County Prosecutor's Office's Special Assault Unit ("SAU"). CP 107-08,

179. Specifically, the request stated:

Please search ALL records relating to George F. Apple and Dawson Place from 2005-2008. No court records, but rather Prosecutor records while George F Appel was assigned to the SAU Unit in Snohomish County assigning him to work at 2722 Colby Ave. This will include his employment files.

CP 179, 193.

Because the request (for "Prosecutor records") sought records of the Snohomish County Prosecuting Attorney's Office Criminal Division ("Criminal Division"), the Criminal Division was designated the lead County department for responding to the request. CP 179-80. On April 16, 2020, the Criminal Division responded to Shavlik's records request by informing her that an installment would be available on or before May 17, 2020. CP 180, 195.

On May 15, 2020, the County e-mailed Shavlik informing her that an installment of records was available. CP 180-81, 199-200. The County also informed Shavlik that, because the County had suspended in-person records inspections pursuant to Washington State Governor Inslee's Proclamation 20-28, they were not available for in-person inspection, but rather in other formats subject to costs, pursuant to RCW 42.56.120(2)(b). Alternatively, Shavlik had the option of leaving her records request open until in-person inspections were allowed. CP 181, 199.

Shavlik objected to the County's suspension of in-person records review and refused to pay the cost associated with the scanning and mailing of records responsive to her request. Since then, the County repeatedly reiterated to Shavlik that records were available to her, including after expiration of the prohibition on in-person records inspection. CP 181, 208-15.

2. Shavlik's Second Public Records Request.

On June 29, 2020, Shavlik made a second PRA request, which again sought records concerning Judge Appel and Dawson Place. In addition to covering the same temporal scope as the first request, the second request sought records created after 2008 through June 29, 2020:

Please provide ALL records relating to George F.B. Appel (however file is kept as an employee since many alias are used) AND Dawson Place (Snohomish County Child Advocacy Center) Please keep in mind that I am asking for the records RE: 2005 to 2009 records FIRST, then search the rest of the date up until present date after all of the records from 2005-2009 have been provided. CP 181, 203.

A Criminal Division employee followed up with e-

mails to Shavlik noting that the two requests overlapped and confirming that the original installment of records remained available, subject to the scanning and mailing cost. CP 182, 205-06. Over the next few months and into 2021, a Criminal Division employee repeatedly communicated with Shavlik, reminding her that the records responsive to her requests were available, subject to the scanning and mailing cost. CP 178, 181,184-86, 190-91, 217-229, 252-53. Additionally, through the Criminal Division, the County provided Shavlik an opportunity to review the records online at no charge. CP 188-89, 243-46.

Shavlik declined the opportunity to inspect records online, again refused to pay the cost associated with scanning and mailing records responsive to her request, and repeatedly demanded an in-person inspection of the records which would allow her to copy the records herself. CP 178, 181, 183-86, 190-91, 217-20, 252-53. Since Shavlik was never afforded an opportunity to view the records and scan or them on her own, she never received and therefore did not examine the records. CP 433. 1. Introduction

In Neighborhood Alliance of Spokane County v. Spokane *County* 172 Wn.2d 702, the court held that the discovery in public records cases is the same as other civil actions, is governed by the civil rules and what constitutes relevant discovery is broad. "Parties may obtain discovery regarding any matter, not privileged, which is relevant to the subject matter involved in the pending action." CR 26(b)(1). Shavlik contends that the deposition requested easily falls within the Neighborhood Alliance id. framework. At the time Dawson Place was conceived, Judge Appel was employed by the defendant as a prosecutor in a special operations group which became a primary occupant when Dawson Place opened. As such, it is entirely plausible that he either possessed or had

knowledge of documents that were responsive to the Respondent public disclosure request and also possessed knowledge how he would locate those documents had he made a diligent search.

The County contends that the deposition request is improper because the judge's conclusory allegation, made under oath, that he possesses no relevant documents, is dispositive over whether such relevant documents are in his possession or control or if he knows of any information that could lead to admissible evidence.

The court of appeals concluded that the deposition was improper because the deposition would only reveal whether new evidence might have been obtained rather than demonstrate whether its search was proper

Both the County and the Court of Appeals argued that Shavlik is not entitled to file suit over the documents because the agency's was not final because she refused to pay a fee to inspect the documents.

As will be shown in the arguments presented in this petition, none of the County's arguments have any validity, so the Supreme Court should uphold the findings of the trial court and reverse the findings of the Court of Appeals by sustaining the subpoena that ordered the deposition of Judge Appel.

3. Argument

A. The County misrepresents the findings of relevant case law to the court in arguing it had shown Appel possessed no relevant documents.

First, the County appears to focus on the "fact" that Judge Appel does not have responsive records for the time he was a prosecutor. The County refers us to *Nissen v. Pierce Cnty.*, 183 Wn.2d 863, 886, 357 P.3d 45 (2015) claiming that holding states that no discovery is allowed as long as the person who holds the records submits a declaration that he holds no records responsive to request. That was not the holding in *Nissen*. In *Nissen*, the court ruled that the declarations had to be made in good faith. It also stated that the employees' assertion that they did not hold responsive records were not sufficient. In fact, in *Nissen*, remanded the case back, ruling that the County itself had to have a mechanism for reviewing documents alleged to be exempt, to insure there were no public records involved. In *Nissen*, the court cited to two federal cases in support of this principle:

> While "[a]n agency cannot require an employee to produce and submit for review a purely personal document when responding to a FOIA request[,] ... it does control the employee to the extent that the employee works for the agency on agency matters." *Ethyl Corp. v. U.S. Envt'l Prot. Agency*, 25 F.3d 1241, 1247 (4th Cir.1994). Thus, where a federal employee asserts a potentially responsive record is personal, he or she must provide the employer and "the courts with the opportunity to evaluate the facts and reach their own conclusions" about whether the record is subject to FOIA. *Grand Cent. P'ship, Inc. v. Cuomo*, 166 F.3d 473, 480-81 (2d Cir.1999). We already incorporate FOIA's standard for adequate searches into the

PRA, *Neigh. All.*, 172 Wash.2d at 720, 261 P.3d 119, and we similarly adopt FOIA's affidavit procedure for an employee's personally held public records

In order to satisfy the agencies burden, *Nissan* permits employees *in good faith* to submit "reasonably detailed, nonconclusory affidavits" attesting to the nature and extent of their search, citing *Neighborhood Alliance*. at 721, 261 P.3d 119

None of that has occurred here. In his declaration, former prosecutor Appel submitted nothing but conclusory allegations that he did not possess such records. He did not delineate what records he possessed from his time as a prosecutor and why they were personal or otherwise not responsive to the appellant's request, or what efforts he made to search those records. In other words, his declaration was not reasonably detailed nor non-conclusory about the nature and extent of his search. If for no other reason, Shavlik should have an opportunity to cross examine the former prosecutor to determine what kind of records he possesses that could arguably be responsive and how he would look for them so that the court could review them.

The Court of Appeals attempted to avoid this issue by claiming that the purpose of the discovery was to see if an adequate search had been made, not whether more documents could have been located citing *Forbes v. City of Gold Bar*, 171 Wn.App. 857, 866, 288 P.3d 3943 (2012). This objection is easily met; the record only shows Snohomish County requested a conclusory declaration from Judge Appel as part of its search. Since Judge Appel is an employee, they should have requested from him a detailed explanation as to how he conducted his search. The record doesn't show the County ever did this. A deposition might have provided relevant information in this regard. The Court of Appeals pointed out that in *Neighborhood Alliance supra* there was evidence there was an insufficient search because of contradictions in the government's response which made the motive of their insufficient response open to question

For this reason, Shavlik should be allowed to question Appel, to see if his declaration was made in good faith. The reason for this is that she has submitted declarations indicating that the County is foot dragging in support of a retaliation campaign that was initiated by the judge Appel when he sanctioned her \$4000 allegedly for misconduct on another case making his motive suspect. While the county claims that it has offered to give her records, it was accompanied by an admission that the offer was conditional upon several payments and/or other requirements that indicate the prosecutor was treating her differently than other requestors. In addition, the County has a history of stalling with respect to Shavlik. The County was sanctioned for similar footdragging in *Shavlik v. Snohomish County*, King County Case #17-2-0396-9 and Shavlik should be allowed to conduct discovery to see if the same motive is present here.

# **B.** Shavlik's requests were reasonable and not for the purposes of harassment.

In its opening brief, the County argued that Shavlik's deposition of Appel constituted harassment because she admitted she sought to question Appel about a previous case. In that case, Shavlik was sanctioned \$4000 by Appel, when Shavlik sought his recusal.

Under Washington's CR 26(b)(1), "Parties may obtain discovery regarding any matter, not privileged, which is relevant to the subject matter involved in the pending action." This rule is designed to permit a broad scope of discovery. *Bushman v. New Holland* Div., 83 Wn.2d 429, 434, 518 P.2d

1078 (1974). See Lurus v. Bristol Laboratories, Inc., 89 Wn.2d 632, 574 P.2d 391 (1978); The Washington State Supreme Court has previously said that the decision not to disclose records and the reasons behind that decision "are precisely the subject matter of a suit brought under the Public Records Act." PAWS v. UW, 125 Wash.2d 243, 270, 884 P.2d 592 n. 17. And the court expanded this in its recent Yousoufian opinion, which made agency culpability the focus in determining daily penalties, thus making discovery regarding motivation relevant. Yousoufian v. Office of Ron Sims, 168 Wash.2d 444, 460, 229 P.3d 735 (2010). Of course, it may be within the trial court's discretion to narrow discovery, but it must not do so in a way that prevents discovery of information relevant to the issues that may arise in a PRA lawsuit.

Motivation was one of the reasons Shavlik sought to depose Judge Appel. Since Appel was a prosecutor for the unit that eventually occupied Dawson Place and both the agency and Appel had been adversarial with Shavlik in the past, as argued earlier she was entitled to depose Appel do determine if his declaration was submitted in good faith.

The trial court dealt with the complaint by the County that she intended to go beyond the scope of discovery by issuing an order that limited the scope of the deposition as follows:(CP 700).

> c. Examination of the deponent shall be limited to the following: 1) Judge Appel's possession or knowledge of records responsive to Plaintiff's Records Requests, if any (but not including the contents of such records, if any); 2) matters explicitly raised by Judge Appel in his declaration.

> d. Plaintiff shall not inquire into orders issued, or cases heard, by Judge Appel in which Ms. Shavlik or a member of Ms. Shavlik's family was a party. Plaintiff shall not inquire into matters unrelated to or post-dating Judge Appel's former employment with the Snohomish County Prosecutor's Office. Judge Appel is permitted to decline to answer questions based on a belief that answering he may violate the Rules of Professional Conduct, the Code of Judicial Conduct, or would otherwise reveal his thought processes or mental impressions attendant to his judicial decision-making. *To the*

extent Plaintiff believes that Judge Appel's refusal to answer questions is not well-grounded or in good faith, she may bring a written motion to compel in accordance with the Civil Rules.

Chief Justice Warren, in a foreword to W. Glaser, Pretrial

Discovery and the Adversary System (1968) said:

The pretrial discovery rules have attempted to remove secrecy and surprise from the trial, thus presenting the fact-finder with a less dramatic, but more accurate, presentation of information. Proponents assert that the rules have proved successful in this regard. Yet there has been widespread debate and disagreement about whether the discovery rules, on balance, have improved the adversary system. Critics have doubted whether the benefits have been achieved, and have charged that discovery is unduly expensive and promotes delay and harassment.

It is toward the amelioration of these problems, among others, that CR 26(c), providing for protective orders, was directed. Under this rule the trial court exercises a broad discretion to manage the discovery process in a fashion that will implement the goal of full disclosure of relevant information and at the same time afford the participants protection against harmful side effects. 4 J. Moore, Federal Practice ¶ 26.67, at 26-487 (2d ed. 1982).

If the person shows good cause, the trial court may make any protective order which justice requires to protect the person from annoyance, embarrassment, oppression, or undue burden or expense, including that the discovery not be had. CR 26(c)

The County cites to *Barfield v. City of Seattle*, 100 Wn.2d 878, 885, 676 P.2d 438 (1984); CR 26(c) for the general proposition that CR 26 allows for a protective order to be issued that protects against annoyance, harassment, undue burden or expense and also references *Rhinehart v. Seattle Times Co.*, 98 Wn.2d 226, 232, 654 P.2d 673 (1982) that states a party establishes good cause by showing that a protective order would avoid the threat of a harm listed in CR 26(c) without impeding the discovery process.

The County misrepresents the holding of *McCallum v*. *Allstate Prop. & Cas. Ins. Co.*, 149 Wn. App. 412, 423, 204 P.3d 944, review denied, 166 Wn.2d 1037 (2009) by omitting the finding that in order "To establish good cause, the party should show specific prejudice or harm will result if no protective order is issued." The party should use affidavits and concrete examples to demonstrate the specific harm that will be suffered; "broad or conclusory allegations of potential harm may not be enough." *Id*.

The county did none of that here. Not only did Judge Appel's declaration not give any concrete specific examples of the harm he might suffer, he did not even say he would be harmed at all.

The Court of Appeals apparently sought to avoid this issue by claiming the agencies order was not final citing *Hobbs v. State*, 183 Wn. App. 925, 935-936, 335 P.3d 1004. However, Hobbs was not decided in the midst of a pandemic where the agency was using the pandemic as an excuse to either charge her for the copying or making it impossible for her to scan or

copy with her own equipment at no cost.

According to RCW 49.56.120:

(1) No fee shall be charged for the inspection of public records or locating public documents and making them available for copying, except as provided in RCW 42.56.240(14) and subsection (3) of this section.

(3)(a)(i) In addition to the charge imposed for providing copies of public records and for the use by any person of agency equipment copying costs, an agency may include a customized service charge. A customized service charge may only be imposed if the agency estimates that the request would require the use of information technology expertise to prepare data compilations or provide customized electronic access services when such compilations and customized access services are not used by the agency for other agency purposes.

(ii) The customized service charge may reimburse the agency up to the actual cost of providing the services in this subsection.

(b) An agency may not assess a customized service charge unless the agency has notified the requestor of the customized service charge to be applied to the request, including an explanation of why the customized service charge applies, a description of the specific expertise, and a reasonable estimate cost of the charge. The notice also must provide the requestor with the opportunity to amend his or her request in order to avoid or reduce the cost of a customized service charge.

Neither the county nor the Court of Appeals cite to any authority which allows the County to charge for inspecting documents. Neither agency cites to any authority stating the appellant must wait to the end of the pandemic before the order should be considered final.

"Where no authorities are cited in support of a proposition, the court is not required to search out authorities, but may assume that counsel, after diligent search, has found none." *DeHeer v. Seattle Post-Intelligencer*, 60 Wn.2d 122, 126, 372 P.2d 193 (1962). In Washington, courts may assume that where no authority is cited, counsel has found none after search. *State v. Young*, 89 Wn.2d 613, 625, 574 P.2d 1171 (1978). If it were possible for the County to make an argument that this is a case of first impression, then it should have done so. By not doing so, the court should therefore give no credence to this argument In Washington, passing treatment of an issue or lack of reasoned argument is insufficient to merit judicial consideration. *Holland v. City of Tacoma* 90 Wa. App. 533, 538, 954 P.2d 2d290(1998)

4. Conclusion

According to RAP the following considerations govern whether the Supreme Court will accept review.

(1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals; or (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

Shavlik contents that 1, 2, and 4 are met. The Court of Appeals decision conflicts with *Neighborhood Alliance supra* and other authority cited in this brief. The issue of whether a government agency can use the pandemic as an excuse to comply with a statute is of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

The trial court crafted a carefully written order which allowed Shavlik to conduct the discovery while limiting it so the deponent could not be harassed or unnecessarily burdened. For this reason, the court should uphold the order that subjected Judge Apple to a deposition by Shavlik.

I certify that this motion is in 14-point Times New Roman font and contains 3,486 words, in compliance with the Rules of Appellate Procedure. RAP 18.27(b) DATED December 26th, 2024.

<u>/S/ Lori Shavlik</u> Lori Shavlik Pro Se

I hereby certify that on December 26th, 2024, I caused to be served a copy of this document, Respondent's Opening

Brief, by the method indicated below to the following:

Uploaded by ECF