FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
1/23/2025 10:53 AM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

NO. 1037422 COA NO. 851748

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

LORI SHAVLIK, Petitioner,

v.

SNOHOMISH COUNTY, Respondent.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

JASON J. CUMMINGS Prosecuting Attorney

Sean D. Reay, WSBA #33622 Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorney for Respondent

Snohomish County Prosecutor's Office 3000 Rockefeller Avenue, M/S #504 Everett, Washington 98201 Telephone: (425) 388-6330 sreay@snoco.org

B. This case does not present an issue of substantial public interest
IV.	CONCLUSION9

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Cases Forbes v. City of Gold Bar, 171 Wn. App. 857, 288 P.3d 384 (2012) 4, 5, 6 Hobbs v. State, 183 Wn. App. 925, 335 P.3d 1004 (2014) 4, 5, 6, 7 Neigh. All. Of Spokane County v. Spokane County, 172 Wn.2d 702, 261 P.3d 119 (2011) 2, 4, 5 State v. Watson, 155 Wn. 2d 574, 122 P.3d 903, 904 (2005) 9 Rules RAP 13.4(b)(1) 3, 7 RAP 13.4(b)(4) 3, 7, 8

I. INTRODUCTION

Snohomish County, defendant in the trial court and petitioner in the Court of Appeals, requests that this Court deny Lori Shavlik's Petition for Review ("Petition").

In this Public Records Act ("PRA") case, Shavlik sought to depose George Appel, a former deputy prosecuting attorney who is now a superior court judge. The trial court permitted the deposition over the County's objection; the County sought discretionary review. The Court of Appeals (also "COA") reversed, holding in an unpublished decision that the trial court should not have permitted the deposition, because Judge Appel's testimony was not relevant to Shavlik's PRA claims.

Further review by this Court is not warranted. Shavlik fails to establish any legal error or conflict between the COA decision and this Court's precedent or other published COA decision. Further, she cannot establish that this fact-specific matter on discretionary review is of substantial public interest.

This Court should deny review.

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The facts are correctly set out in the unpublished opinion of the Court of Appeals.

The COA opinion focused primarily on the relevance of Judge Appel's testimony. The Court of Appeals explained that the Civil Rules govern the scope of discovery in a PRA case.

Slip Op. at *9 (citing *Neigh. All. Of Spokane County v. Spokane County*, 172 Wn.2d 702, 261 P.3d 119 (2011)).

Applying the Civil Rules, the Court of Appeals determined that the trial court erred in concluding that records Judge Appel may have created or possessed, or had knowledge of, were relevant to Shavlik's PRA claims. The COA reasoned that Judge Appel's knowledge or possession of documents had no bearing on the whether County's search for records was adequate under the PRA, because Judge Appel was not involved in processing or making policy regarding Shavlik's records requests and Shavlik had not viewed the records the County made available.

Accordingly, the Court of Appeals determined the trial court abused its discretion by permitting Judge Appel's deposition. Slip Op. at *10.

III. REASONS TO DENY THE PETITION

The Court of Appeals opinion appropriately applied precedent to the effect that discovery in a PRA case is governed by the Civil Rules and appropriately evaluated whether Shavlik's proposed deposition was relevant to her PRA claims.

The Petition fails to identify a conflict with any decision by this Court or any published decision of the Court of Appeals. Further, this case does not involve a matter of substantial public interest.

Review is not warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2), or (4).

A. The decision does not conflict with Supreme Court precedent or a published decision of the Court of Appeals.

Shavlik fails to specifically explain why the Petition meets the criteria in RAP 13.4(b)(1) or (2).

1. The decision does not conflict with Supreme Court precedent.

In her Petition, Shavlik contends that her proposed deposition "easily falls within the *Neighborhood Alliance* framework." Petition at 8. She further suggests that the Court of Appeals improperly relied on *Forbes v. City of Gold Bar*, 171 Wn. App. 857, 288 P.3d 384 (2012) and *Hobbs v. State*, 183 Wn. App. 925, 335 P.3d 1004 (2014). But Shavlik's arguments do not establish that the Court of Appeals decision conflicts with any of these cases.

First, the Court of Appeals decision does not conflict with *Neighborhood Alliance*. The decision correctly recognized that the Civil Rules govern the scope of discovery. Slip Op. at *9. The decision then evaluated whether the Shavlik's proposed deposition of Judge Appel was relevant to her PRA claims. *Id*. The decision distinguished *Neighborhood Alliance* based on the facts of this case—in particular, that Judge Appel was not involved in the County's response to her records requests and

that Shavlik initiated her PRA suit without viewing the records the County produced and before the County had taken final action on the relevant requests.

Conversely, in *Neighborhood Alliance*, the disclosed documents "had discrepancies indicating the agency's search was inadequate," and the requestor sued after attempting to resolve the discrepancies. Slip Op. at *11. Accordingly, as the Court of Appeals observed, *Neighborhood Alliance* is distinguishable.

2. The decision does not conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals.

Shavlik also disagrees with the Court of Appeals' application of *Forbes* and *Hobbs*. But the Petition does not identify a conflict between the COA decision and either case.

The Court of Appeals decision cites to both *Forbes* (and *Neighborhood Alliance*, discussed above) to explain that the focus of the judicial inquiry in a PRA case is the search process rather than the search's outcome. Slip Op. at *10-11.

Shavlik's Petition argues the County "should have requested from [Judge Appel] a detailed explanation as to how he conducted his search." Petition at 13. But, as the trial court itself found, Judge Appel was not involved in responding to Shavlik's records requests or in County policymaking regarding public records production. Slip Op. at *10 ("To that end, the trial court found that 'Judge Appel was not involved in responding to [Shavlik]'s Public Records Requests or in establishing or implementing Snohomish County's policies and procedures concerning the production of public records—including in response to [Shavlik]'s Public Records
Requests."").

The Court of Appeals decision does not conflict with *Forbes*. Rather, it appropriately applies the reasoning in *Forbes* to the facts here.

The Petition further disputes the Court of Appeals' consideration of *Hobbs*, arguing that *Hobbs* was not decided during a pandemic "where the agency was using the pandemic

as an excuse to either charge [Shavlik] for the copying or making it impossible for her to scan or copy with her own equipment at no cost." Petition at 20-21.

This argument fails to demonstrate that the decision conflicts with *Hobbs*. Instead, Shavlik herself appears to suggest that *Hobbs* is distinguishable, and the Court of Appeals should not have applied its holding to the facts of this case. This reasoning does not create a conflict worthy of this Court's review under RAP 13.4(b)(2).

In sum, Shavlik's arguments do not establish that the

Court of Appeals decision conflicts with Supreme Court

precedent or a published decision of the Court of Appeals.

Rather, the Petition merely reasserts arguments already rejected

by the Court of Appeals.

B. This case does not present an issue of substantial public interest.

Shavlik also contends that review should be accepted under RAP 13.4(b)(4) as a matter of substantial public interest.

Specifically, she argues that "whether a government agency can use the pandemic as an excuse to [not] comply with a statute is of substantial public interest." Petition at 24. Shavlik cites to no authority (other than RAP 13.4(b)(4)) in support of this argument.

This argument misunderstands the case's procedural posture and has no merit. The Court of Appeals considered only whether the trial court abused its discretion in permitting Judge Appel's deposition. But Shavlik's argument regarding the importance and applicability of public policy interests appears targeted to the underlying claims in her PRA suit rather than the discovery matter at issue. Review is not warranted on this basis.

Further, even if Shavlik's arguments regarding the importance and applicability of public policy interests were targeted to the issue on appeal, she cannot establish a substantial public interest under the unique facts of this case, where her intended deposition did not seek relevant evidence.

Put simply, in contrast to other cases where the Supreme Court has identified a substantial public interest, Shavlik does not raise issues applicable to or likely to have an impact on other cases or litigants. *See, e,g., State v. Watson*, 155 Wn. 2d 574, 577 122 P.3d 903, 904 (2005) ("prime example" of a substantial public interest where issue on appeal had the potential to affect future litigants and criminal sentencing proceedings).

Shavlik's argument fails. The Petition for Review does not present an issue of substantial public interest.

IV. CONCLUSION

The Court of Appeals decision is consistent with established precedent of this Court and the Court of Appeals, and the issue presented on discretionary review does not present a question of substantial public interest.

The Court should deny the Petition for Review.

This brief contains 1,343 words, excluding the parts of the document exempted from the word count by RAP 18.17.